## **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Andrew Pahnke

March 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2022

# The effect of Farnesoid X Receptor agonism on the gut microbiome and mortality during cholestatic liver disease

by

Andrew Pahnke

Dr. Arash Grakoui Advisor

Biology

Dr. Arash Grakoui

Advisor

Dr. David Weiss

Committee Member

Dr. Jacobus de Roode

**Committee Member** 

2023

The effect of Farnesoid X Receptor agonism on the gut microbiome and mortality during cholestatic liver disease

Ву

Andrew Pahnke

Dr. Arash Grakoui

Advisor

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors

Biology

2023

#### Abstract

## The effect of Farnesoid X Receptor agonism on the gut microbiome and mortality during cholestatic liver disease By Andrew Pahnke

Chronic liver diseases such as cholestatic liver diseases and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease are prevalent issues in today's world. The last decade has witnessed an explosion of insights into the role of gut microbiota in cholestatic liver disease; however, much remains unknown. The liver begins production of bile acids which break down fats in the diet. Cholestatic liver diseases tremendously alter the bile profile of the patient, but little is known about how this would affect the gut microbiota. Using a mouse model of cholestatic liver disease, multidrug resistance gene 2 knockout ( $Mdr2^{-/-}$ ) mice, we studied how a high-fat diet (HFD) alters gut microbiota and disease outcomes during cholestatic liver disease progression. *Mdr2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were used because cholestatic liver disease is known to disrupt bile synthesis and transport in this mouse model. Bile acid synthesis can be activated by the Farnesoid X receptor (FXR) signaling pathway in mice. GW4064 is an agonist of the FXR pathway which influences the production of bile acids in mice. Our aim is to examine how the administration of GW4064 to *Mdr2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice will influence their bile profile and their gut microbiota. Gut commensal bacteria Lactobacillus colonization of the intestine indicates a healthy microbiome. Our data suggest that the addition of the GW4064 agonist had an adverse effect on mouse mortality and Lactobacillus colonization levels within the gut. This could be due to a negative impact of the FXR agonist on commensal bacteria counts which allowed for pathogenic proliferation; however, I am unable to make that claim as there were no visible changes in mRNA expression due to the GW4064 agonist.

## The effect of Farnesoid X Receptor agonism on the gut microbiome and mortality during cholestatic liver disease

Ву

Andrew Pahnke

Dr. Arash Grakoui

Advisor

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors

Biology

2023

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Arash Grakoui for using his lab's resources to conduct my experiments and allowing me to take liberty over my project. I also want to acknowledge Dr. Manoj Thapa and Dr. Anuradha Kumari for being the most helpful teachers and mentors I could have ever asked for.

I appreciated the help from the Emory National Primate Center veterinary staff as well as the resources and facilities to carry out the experiments.

Secondly, Dr. Jacobus de Roode gave me my first experience in a wet lab environment that refined my skills in sterile technique and organization. Working with the monarch butterflies was my first introduction into the world of medication and disease.

Finally, I would like to thank Elizabeth Elrod for making the lab a welcoming and productive environment. Her experience has helped me more times than I can count.

## Table of Contents

## Table of Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION & AIMS	1
1	Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis	. 1
2	GUT DYSBIOSIS	. 2
3	BILE ACID SYNTHESIS	. 3
	Figure 1: Bile Acid Synthesis Pathways	. 4
4	Farnesoid X Receptor Regulation	. 4
	Figure 2: Farnesoid X Receptor Signaling	. 5
5	OUR AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	. 6
2.	METHODS	7
	Table 1: Experiment Layout	. 7
1	ANIMAL EXPERIMENTS	. 7
2	STANDARD BACTERIOLOGICAL CULTURE OF LIVER, ILEUM, AND FECES	. 8
3	QUANTITATIVE POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION	. 8
4		q
-	STATISTICAL ANALTSIS	
3.	RESULTS	9
<b>3.</b>	RESULTS	9
<b>3.</b>	RESULTS	9 .9
<b>3.</b> 1 2	RESULTS	9 .9 .9
<b>3.</b> 1	RESULTS	9 .9 .9 10 11
<b>3.</b> 1 2	RESULTS	9 .9 .9 10 11 11
<b>3.</b> 1 2	RESULTS MOUSE MORTALITY Figure 3: Mortality of MDR2 <sup>-/-</sup> Mice BACTERIAL COLONY COUNTS Figure 4: Lactobacillus Figure 5: Enteroccoccus Figure 6: Unidentified Bacteria.	9 9 9 10 11 11 12
<b>3.</b> 1 2 3	RESULTS	9 9 9 10 11 11 12 13
<b>3.</b> 1 2 3	RESULTS MOUSE MORTALITY Figure 3: Mortality of MDR2 <sup>-/-</sup> Mice BACTERIAL COLONY COUNTS Figure 4: Lactobacillus Figure 5: Enteroccoccus Figure 6: Unidentified Bacteria MRNA Expression Figure 7: FGF15 mRNA Expression	9 9 .9 10 11 11 12 13 13
<b>3.</b> 1 2 3	RESULTS	9 9 9 10 11 11 12 13 13 13
<b>3.</b> 1 2 3 <b>4.</b>	RESULTS MOUSE MORTALITY Figure 3: Mortality of MDR2 <sup>-/-</sup> Mice BACTERIAL COLONY COUNTS. Figure 4: Lactobacillus Figure 5: Enteroccoccus Figure 6: Unidentified Bacteria. MRNA Expression. Figure 7: FGF15 mRNA Expression Figure 8: FXR and CYP7A1 mRNA Expression DISCUSSION & FUTURE DIRECTIONS	9 9 9 10 11 11 12 13 13 14 <b>14</b>
<b>3.</b> 1 2 3 <b>4.</b> 5.	RESULTS	9 9 .0 10 11 11 12 13 13 14 14 14

## 1. Introduction & Aims

#### 1. Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis

Chronic liver diseases have become a prominent issue in the United States and western world in synchrony with the obesity crisis<sup>1</sup>. Cholestatic liver diseases and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) are examples of chronic liver disease that have been shown to affect the gut microbiome and vice versa<sup>2</sup>. Primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) is a chronic cholestatic liver disease that does not have a known cure or origin. PSC is characterized by the scarring of the biliary duct in the liver which prevents the flow of bile acids into the intestinal tract. Sclerosing cholangitis can be caused by many conditions including autoimmunity, heritable disorders, and various infections that cause bile duct blockage<sup>3</sup>. Cholestasis is the condition of toxic bile acid buildup within the liver as a result of the inability to secrete bile acids<sup>4</sup>.

The *ABCB4* gene locus encodes for the canalicular phospholipid transporter known as multidrug resistant gene 2 (MDR2) in mice or multidrug resistant gene 3 (MDR3) in humans<sup>5</sup>. When defective, this gene causes a liver disease progression leading to cholestatic liver disease<sup>2</sup>. The MDR2/3 transporter encodes for a biliary transporter that moves phospholipids from the liver into duodenum. When MDR2 is knocked out in mice, the bile acid buildup causes toxicity and liver damage resembling primary sclerosing cholangitis<sup>4</sup> (PSC).

In clinical patients, PSC manifests with symptoms of jaundice, pruritus, and gastrointestinal discomfort in roughly 60% of cases<sup>6</sup>; however, these symptoms can vary drastically from patient to patient. A measurement of liver health can be done with serum alkaline phosphatase analysis along with bilirubin analysis<sup>6</sup>.

#### 2. Gut Dysbiosis

PSC can have many downstream effects as a result of the decreased bile flow. One of these is disruption of the gut microbiome<sup>2</sup>. The gut microbiome is heavily influenced by genetics as well as environmental factors such as diet<sup>7</sup>.

In particular, gut dysbiosis is a shift in the proportion of bacterial families within the gastrointestinal tract. Dysbiosis can lead to inflammation and bloating within the gut which are markers of IBD. In non-alcoholic fatty liver diseases, the ratio of *Bacteroides: Firmicutes* is increased leading to more intestinal inflammation<sup>7</sup>.

Dysbiosis can cause major health issues leading to death within mouse models<sup>2</sup>. A common measurement of gut health is the abundance of the *Lactobacillus* bacterial family<sup>8</sup>. *L. reuteri* and *L. gasseri* are both commensal and bile resistant gut bacteria<sup>9, 10</sup>. *Lactobacillus spp.* are known to prevent potentially inflammatory bacteria such as *E. coli* or *Klepsiella spp.* from proliferating in the gut environment<sup>8</sup>.

In recent years, gut dysbiosis has been linked with deterioration of the gut barrier causing different forms of leaky gut<sup>11</sup>. This in turn can lead to bacterial translocation causing inflammation and other complications throughout the body<sup>11</sup>. The gut-liver portal vein allows for a high risk of bacterial liver translocation and/or bacterial metabolites from the gut causing a highly mounted immune response<sup>11</sup>. This link between the gut and liver has a feedback mechanism involving bile<sup>11</sup>.

Primary sclerosing cholangitis in particular has low diversity seen the fecal microbiome of patients<sup>10</sup>. There have been previous studies showing the translocation of *Lactobacillus gasseri* 

bacteria into the liver of *MDR2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice which provides more evidence of a unique environment in this model of PSC<sup>2</sup>. There have also been reports of increased *Proteobacteria* colonies such as *E. coli* which are associated with gut inflammation and IBD<sup>10</sup>. Not many studies have looked into the relationship between gut dysbiosis and PSC-model bile acid signaling regulation.

## 3. Bile Acid Synthesis

The liver produces bile acids by processing serum cholesterol into cholic acid (CA) and chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA)<sup>6</sup>. This is done through the use of enzyme cholesterol 7 alphahydroxylase (CYP7A1) which is the rate limiting step in primary bile acid production. CA and CDCA are the primary bile acids found in mammals, whereas CA and muricholic acid (MCA) are found in rodents. While producing bile acids, the liver can store conjugated bile acids in the gallbladder for later secretion. Either taurine or glycine is conjugated to the bile acid for secretion into the bile duct. Bile acids are capable of hormone function as well by activating receptors such as the Farnesoid X Receptor<sup>12</sup>. Currently, the FXR receptor is a promising pathway to ameliorate different cholestatic liver diseases<sup>12-16</sup>.

As opposed to the primary bile acid pathway, there is also the alternative bile acid pathway which is characterized by the use of enzyme CYP27A1<sup>17</sup>. This pathway has shown to produce almost entirely CDCA in humans and MCA in mice<sup>17</sup>. It has also been shown that in fibrotic and cirrhotic livers that the alternative pathway is favored<sup>17</sup>.



#### Figure 1: Bile Acid Synthesis Pathways

The classical pathway (left side) is characterized by rate-limiting enzyme CYP7A1 which catalyzes the 7alpha-hydroxylation reaction of cholesterol. The product 7alphaHC can then be turned into cholic acid or chenodeoxycholic acid in a 50:50 ratio. The alternative pathway (right side) starts with the entrance of cholesterol into the mitochondria of a hepatocyte by STARD1. Once inside the mitochondria, CYP27A1 catalyzes the 27alpha-hydroxylation reaction of the cholesterol putting it on a path only leading to chenodeoxycholic acid. In mice, further processing in the liver converts CDCA into MCA.

## 4. Farnesoid X Receptor Regulation

Treatment of PSC has been long sought after through employing the use of the Farnesoid X

Receptor (FXR); however, the gut microbiome in this context has not been explored. The FXR

pathway is a negative feedback mechanism that begins with the Farnesoid X Receptor in the

lower ileum. FXR is expressed throughout the entire small intestine, but the highest

concentrations of expression are seen in the liver and ileum<sup>14</sup>. Here is where roughly 95% of bile acids are already broken down and reabsorbed into circulation back towards the liver while the remainder is excreted in feces<sup>18</sup>.

The FXR is stimulated by bile acids causing the release of fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19) in humans and FGF15 in mice. FGF 19 travels to the liver where it is able to activate fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4). FGFR4 inhibits CYP7A1 which prevents the initial step in cholesterol metabolism.



## Figure 2: Farnesoid X Receptor Signaling

The FXR pathway begins with bile salts being secreted from the liver after synthesis from cholesterol. In the gut, various bacteria species produce bile salt hydrolases which breakdown the primary bile acids into secondary bile acids. These bile acids can stimulate the Farnesoid X Receptor causing fibroblast growth factor 15 in mice and 19 in humans to be secreted into portal circulation. Most of the bile acids get reabsorbed whereas roughly 5% get excreted in the feces. FGF15/19 activate FGFR4 in the liver which in turn inhibits the CYP7A1 enzyme. This enzyme is further inhibited by the stimulation of liver FXR through bile acid circulation back to the liver.

In the mouse model of *Mdr2*-/-, we hypothesize that the lack of bile acid secretion due to the absence of bile phospholipid transporters would lower expression of FXR. This in turn would prevent FGF15/19 secretion therefore allowing CYP7A1 expression to be unregulated.

### 5. Our Aims and Objectives

In this experiment, I hypothesize that the FXR agonist GW4064 will be able to ameliorate liver toxicity by reducing bile acid production through inhibition of the primary bile acid synthesis pathway. If so, less liver damage could possibly help the gut microbiome environment.

The FXR receptor is a promising target because the gut microbes will deal with even less bile secretion than before. This will help determine if the FXR pathway is a viable target for individuals with cholestatic liver disease and have possible symptoms of gut dysbiosis. Previous studies have shown that FXR agonism can benefit cholestatic liver diseases<sup>15</sup>, but it has never been done with synthetic agonist GW4064.

Our main method of observation will be utilizing bacterial colony counts on sheep's blood agar dishes. This observation has been shown to give reliable information on the status of the gut microbiome within mouse model. The most common sample to culture is stool which provides a wide glimpse at the GI tract health.

This mouse model of *Mdr2*<sup>-/-</sup> has been shown to exhibit 2 separate diseases. While it is commonly used to study primary sclerosing cholangitis, it also exhibits symptoms of gut dysbiosis as a result of the liver disease. The addition of this FXR agonist is intended to benefit both diseases present within this mouse model.

We hope to see if the gut-liver axis is strongly affected by the addition of a synthetic FXR agonist. This will be characterized by a stable population of *Lactobacillus spp.* bacteria and higher expression of FGF15 in the ileum.

## 1. Methods

12-week-old Male Mdr2 <sup>-/-</sup> Mice	Diet	Intraperitoneal Injection	Injection Frequency	Predictions	Sampling Methods	
Control N=3	Regular Chow	None	None	Normal Phenotype	Liver, ileum, and feces samples were taken post-mortem and homogenized in 5uL of phosphate buffered saline solution. The samples were all cultured on blood-	
HFD Control N=5	High Fat Diet	Vehicle (10%DMSO, 90% Corn Oil)	2 Times a week	Gut dysbiosis and liver damage caused by HFD introduction		
Experimental Group N=5	High Fat Diet	50mg/kg GW4064 (10%DMSO, 90% Corn Oil)	2 Times a week	Less gut dysbiosis and liver damage as a result of the GW4064 FXR stimulation.	<ul> <li>agar at 10<sup>-3</sup>, 10<sup>-4</sup>, 10<sup>-5</sup> concentrations.</li> <li>Liver and ileum samples were stored in Trizol solution for mRNA extraction and qPCR.</li> </ul>	

## Table 1: Experiment Layout

## 1. Animal Experiments

*Mdr2<sup>-/-</sup>* (friend virus B NIH [FVB].129P2-Abcb4<sup>tm1Bor</sup>/J) double knockout mice were obtained from Jackson Laboratory and established true breeding lines. We fed the mice a standard chow (control; Labdiet 5001) or High-fat diet (HFD), matched to Paigen's Atherogenic Rodent diet without sodium cholate (Research Diets 99020201) to 12-weeks-old *Mdr2<sup>-/-</sup>* male mice for 8–12 weeks ad libitum. In one HFD treatment group, FXR agonist GW4064 (GW, 20mg/kg, Sigma Aldrich) was administered mixed with 90% corn oil and 10% DMSO vehicle preparation intraperitoneally once a week. Control HFD group was injected with vehicle preparation only with no GW4064.

## 2. Standard Bacteriological Culture of Liver, Ileum, and Feces

Stool, liver, and ileum samples were weighed and homogenized within 5uL of sterile phosphate buffer solution after mouse sacrifice. Stool and ileum samples were plated at 10<sup>-3</sup>, 10<sup>-4</sup>, and 10<sup>-5</sup> dilutions on sheep's blood agar plates. Liver samples were plated at 150uL and 350uL on sheep's blood agar for presence of translocated bacterial colonies.

#### 3. Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

Liver and ileum tissues were homogenized in 1mL of Trizol reagent (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). The samples were then processed into an isolated sample of mRNA which was then reverse transcribed into complementary cDNA. This was done using a complementary cDNA isolation kit (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA). The PCR reactions were completed with the following thermocycling format. Starting 95°C for 10 minutes and followed by 40 cycles by 95°C for 15s, 60°C for 60s, and 72°C for 30s. A 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems) was used for all reactions. Depending on tissue integrity, some samples were left out of analysis while additional samples have been added to control groups from simultaneous experiments. The list of primers can be found in the **Supplementary Table**.

### 4. Statistical Analysis

In this study, data were analyzed using Mann Whitney U test, student t test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using Graph Pad Prism 9 software.

## 2. Results

#### 1. Mouse Mortality

In this study, 12-weeks-old  $Mdr2^{-/-}$  mice were fed either regular chow (control, n=3) or HFD (n=5). In one HFD group (n=5), GW4064 was administered to determine how FXR agonist will influence the disease outcomes in  $Mdr2^{-/-}$  mice. Interestingly, following 5-9 weeks of HFD treatment,  $Mdr2^{-/-}$  mice with GW treatment (red) were found to have a higher mortality than HFD-fed (blue) or regular chow-fed (black)  $Mdr2^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 3). The moribund mice showed





## Figure 3: Mortality of MDR2-/- Mice

GW4064 treatment increased mortality of HFD-fed *Mdr2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to control and HFD control mice. The graph is representative of 2 independent experiments (n=3-5 mice/group). The statistical analysis was performed by using ANOVA.

ruffled hair, slow movement, heavy breathing with an internal bleeding within the chest cavity

(data not shown). Moreover, 80% mortality (4/5) was observed in GW treated mice compared

to 40% (2/5) in HFD only group and no mortality in control diet group by 9<sup>th</sup> week of treatment. In addition, HFD only group showed delayed mortality compared to GW treatment group. Taken together, GW treatment increased the mortality rate in HFD-fed *Mdr2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice.

## 2. Bacterial Colony Counts

Following animal harvest, we collected fecal specimens and ileum tissues from mice and processed for the standard bacteriological culture to examine the gut microbiota profile. Interestingly, we found that gut commensal bacteria *Lactobacillus* was significantly decreased in both ileum tissue and fecal samples in HFD-fed and HFD+GW treated groups (Figure 4). Since mortality rate was higher in GW treated group, the loss of *Lactobacillus sp.* was earlier in those mice. Within feces (B), there were some outliers in the GW+HFD group with higher amounts of *Lactobacillus*. Interestingly enough, the mouse that survived GW treatment, still have a significant amount of *Lactobacillus* within feces and ileum.



### Figure 4: Lactobacillus

Colony forming unit (CFU) of *Lactobacillus* per gram of ileum (A) and feces (B) after HFD and HFD+GW4064 treatments. Statistical analysis was done by using student t test. No significant differences were seen between control and HFD+GW in either ileum (p=0.08) or feces (p=0.14). Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

Seen below, the loss of Lactobacillus in ileum and feces was found to be correlated with

enrichment of a gut pathobiont Enterococcus faecalis (E. faecalis or Enterococcus) in both HFD

and HFD+GW treated groups (Figure 5).



## Figure 5: Enteroccoccus

Colony forming unit (CFU) of *Enterococcus* per gram of ileum (A) and feces (B) after HFD and HFD+GW4064 treatments. Statistical analysis was done by using student t test. No significant differences were seen between control and HFD+GW in either ileum (p=0.43) or feces (p=0.48). Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.



### Figure 6: Unidentified Bacteria

Colony forming unit (CFU) of unidentified bacteria per gram of ileum (A) and feces (B) after HFD and HFD+GW4064 treatments. Statistical analysis was done by using student t test. No significant differences were seen between control and HFD+GW in either ileum (p=0.46) or feces (p=0.23). Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

Moreover, we detected one unidentified bacteria colony enriched in both ileum tissue and

feces of HFD and HFD+GW treated groups (Figure 6). Our future aim is to determine whether

these unidentified bacteria play a critical role in disease pathogenesis during cholestatic liver

disease progression.

## 3. mRNA Expression

Within our mouse groups, FGF15 appeared to be expressed the most in control mice followed by HFD then GW4064+HFD (Figure 7). This trend is surprising due to the expected FXR stimulation as a result of the GW4064 agonist injections. It could be due to the mobilized FGF15 into liver portal circulation targeting liver FGFR4 receptors.





## Figure 7: FGF15 mRNA Expression

GW4064 treatment mice have a lower trend of mRNA expression of FGF15 in the ileum as compared to HFD and control. Statistical analysis was done by using one way ANOVA analysis. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

Seen below in figure 8, FXR expression in the ileum has remained static. However, it seems that CYP7A1 expression is highest within the HFD mouse group with a lower trend in GW4064+HFD group and a trending higher expression level than the control group. CYP7A1 expression was expected to be lowest in the GW4064+HFD group as a result of FXR stimulation.

FXR expression was expected to be higher in the experimental agonist group as well but marginally so because receptor expression is difficult to change from exogenous supplements.



Figure 8: FXR and CYP7A1 mRNA Expression

No significant differences in mRNA expression for FXR (A) or CYP7A1 (B) between the treatment groups. Statistical analysis was done by using one way ANOVA analysis. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

## 3. Discussion & Future Directions

Based on the above data, Cholestatic liver disease and the gut microbiome seem to be correlated to bile acid signaling levels. While expression levels remained insignificant between the mouse experimental groups, there was a trend of higher CYP7A1 expression for both the GW4064+HFD, and the HFD group. This is contrary to our hypothesis of CYP7A1 inhibition due to FXR pathway activation.

This FXR experiment has shown that male mice given a HFD and the GW4064 agonist have higher mortality rates than just HFD mice. We saw extremely low *Lactobacillus spp.* counts in this experimental group of mice, so we suspect that a dysbiosis event caused this potentially pathogenic gut environment. A possible mechanism to this quick mortality could have been the lack of any high fat diet metabolism within these mice due to a smaller bile acid pool. However, due to the lack of difference in mRNA expression between these groups of mice, we cannot conclude that the GW4064 agonist had only on-target effects.

This study was limited by the extreme nature in which the male HFD+GW4064 mice had died which could have added confounding variables to the gut microbe populations. Due to this unexpected mortality, the n-value for the HFD+GW4064 was low which inhibited our statistical analysis. In addition, during the second trial of the experiment, HFD group mice became sick earlier than usual and had low mRNA expression counts especially in FGF15 expression.

Previously, there have been experiments showing bacterial translocation to the liver from the gut.<sup>2, 11</sup>. However, we did not observe any bacteria present in this study (data not shown). Gut leakiness is a contributing factor in this phenomenon, and we were unable to include that variable in this study.

In future experiments, we plan on analyzing the bile acid profile within the stool and serum of all mouse groups. This information would help determine if there are differences in the hydrophobic/hydrophilic nature of the bile acids within the various mouse groups. If the GW4064 agonist caused inhibition of the primary bile acid synthesis pathway in this cholestatic liver, we would expect to see higher levels of MCA due to reliance on the alternative bile acid synthesis pathway.

In addition, this experiment would benefit from the insertion of a positive control group. This could be done by implementing bile acids CDCA or MCA which are known FXR agonists into the diet of the positive control mice. This would give us a reference for FXR stimulation provided by the GW4064 agonist. We would expect to see similar expression levels in the FXR associated mRNA between the positive control group and the experimental group.

An FXR antagonist such as ursodeoxycholic acid could be tested as well to examine the relationship between bile-acid composition and the gut microbiome environment in this model of PSC within mice<sup>12</sup>. In an antagonistic model, we would expect to see less FGF15 expression leading to increased bile acid synthesis. It is unclear in PSC whether a larger bile acid pool or smaller bile acid pool is more beneficial for the patient.

## 4. References

- 1. Sherif ZA, Saeed A, Ghavimi S, et al. Global Epidemiology of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Perspectives on US Minority Populations. Digestive diseases and sciences 2016;61:1214-1225.
- 2. Tedesco D, Thapa M, Chin CY, et al. Alterations in Intestinal Microbiota Lead to Production of Interleukin 17 by Intrahepatic gammadelta T-Cell Receptor-Positive Cells and Pathogenesis of Cholestatic Liver Disease. Gastroenterology 2018;154:2178-2193.
- 3. Hirschfield GM, Karlsen TH, Lindor KD, et al. Primary sclerosing cholangitis. The Lancet 2013;382:1587-1599.
- 4. Fickert P, Fuchsbichler A, Wagner M, et al. Regurgitation of bile acids from leaky bile ducts causes sclerosing cholangitis in Mdr2 (Abcb4) knockout mice. Gastroenterology 2004;127:261-274.
- 5. Davit-Spraul A, Gonzales E, Baussan C, et al. The Spectrum of Liver Diseases Related to ABCB4 Gene Mutations: Pathophysiology and Clinical Aspects. Semin Liver Dis 2010;30:134-146.
- 6. Chiang JY. Bile acid metabolism and signaling. Compr Physiol 2013;3:1191-212.
- 7. Belizário JE, Faintuch J. Microbiome and Gut Dysbiosis. In: Silvestre R, Torrado E, eds. Metabolic Interaction in Infection. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018:459-476.
- 8. Singh AK, Hertzberger RY, Knaus UG. Hydrogen peroxide production by lactobacilli promotes epithelial restitution during colitis. Redox Biol 2018;16:11-20.
- 9. Nettleton JE, Klancic T, Schick A, et al. Prebiotic, Probiotic, and Synbiotic Consumption Alter Behavioral Variables and Intestinal Permeability and Microbiota in BTBR Mice. Microorganisms 2021;9:1833.
- 10. Little R, Wine E, Kamath BM, et al. Gut microbiome in primary sclerosing cholangitis: A review. World J Gastroenterol 2020;26:2768-2780.
- 11. Chopyk DM, Grakoui A. Contribution of the Intestinal Microbiome and Gut Barrier to Hepatic Disorders. Gastroenterology 2020;159:849-863.
- 12. Sonne DP. MECHANISMS IN ENDOCRINOLOGY: FXR signalling: a novel target in metabolic diseases. European Journal of Endocrinology 2021;184:R193-R205.
- 13. Cao Y, Xiao Y, Zhou K, et al. FXR agonist GW4064 improves liver and intestinal pathology and alters bile acid metabolism in rats undergoing small intestinal resection. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2019;317:G108-g115.
- 14. Cariello M, Piccinin E, Garcia-Irigoyen O, et al. Nuclear receptor FXR, bile acids and liver damage: Introducing the progressive familial intrahepatic cholestasis with FXR mutations. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease 2018;1864:1308-1318.
- 15. Liu Y, Binz J, Numerick MJ, et al. Hepatoprotection by the farnesoid X receptor agonist GW4064 in rat models of intra- and extrahepatic cholestasis. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 2003;112:1678-1687.
- 16. Ma Y, Huang Y, Yan L, et al. Synthetic FXR Agonist GW4064 Prevents Diet-Induced Hepatic Steatosis and Insulin Resistance. Pharmaceutical Research 2013;30:1447-1457.
- 17. Pandak WM, Kakiyama G. The acidic pathway of bile acid synthesis: Not just an alternative pathway(☆). Liver Res 2019;3:88-98.
- 18. Mertens KL, Kalsbeek A, Soeters MR, et al. Bile Acid Signaling Pathways from the Enterohepatic Circulation to the Central Nervous System. Frontiers in Neuroscience 2017;11.

## 5. Supplemental Table

1	FXR mouse	Forward	5'-TCCGGACATTCAACCATCAC-3'
		Reverse	5'-TCACTGCACATCCCAGATCTC-3'
2	CYP7A1	Forward	5'AGCAACTAAACAACCTGCCAGTACTA3'
		Reverse	5'-GTCCGGATATTCAAGGATGCA-3'
3	FGF15	Forward	5'-ACGGGCTGATTCGCTACTC-3'
		Reverse	5'-TGTAGCCTAAACAGTCCATTTCCT-3'